FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA



BARBARA STINE TRIVETT, ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE OF JASPER TRIVETT,

**Plaintiff Below and Petitioner,** 

DO NOT REMOVE

٧.

Case No. 22-0202 (Circuit Court Case No. CC-45-2021-C-27)

SUMMERS COUNTY COMMISSION d/b/a SUMMERS COUNTY OFFICE OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT and CARMEN CALES,

Defendants Below and Respondents.

# **BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER**

BARBARA STINE TRIVETT, ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE OF JASPER TRIVETT By Counsel

**MIZE LAW FIRM, PLLC**

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The Circuit Court committed clear legal error and abused its discretion when it determined that the Petitioner's underlying Complaint was filed outside of the applicable statute of limitations set forth in the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act.
- The Circuit Court committed clear legal error and abused its discretion when it determined that the Plaintiff's Complaint was filed outside of the applicable statute of limitations set forth in the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act at §55-7B-6(i)(1).
- The Circuit Court committed clear legal error and abused its discretion when it determined that the statute of limitations was not tolled by the discovery rule pursuant to <u>Dunn v. Rockwell</u>, 225 W.Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255 (2009).

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

This matter is before the Court pursuant to the appeal of the Plaintiff Below and Petitioner herein, Barbara Trivett, who is prosecuting this action in her capacity as the Administratrix of the Estate of her infant son, Jasper Trivett. In this matter, Mrs. Trivett appeals the Order Granting Motion to Dismiss of Defendants Summers County Commission D/B/A Summers County Office of Emergency Management and Carmen Cales entered by the Circuit Court of Summers County in which the the Circuit Court dismissed various wrongful death claims that Mrs. Trivett brought on behalf of baby Jasper against the Summers County Commission, doing business as the Summers County Office of Emergency 911") and its employee, Carmen Cales. Because this matter is before the Court on an appeal from an Order granting a Motion to Dismiss, the factual allegations that must be considered by the Court are those contained in Mrs. Trivett's underlying Complaint. (See App., pp. 147-77.)

In the early morning hours of September 15, 2019, Mrs. Trivett, awoke to feed her infant son, Jasper Trivett, and discovered that baby Jasper was unresponsive. (See App.,

p. 150.) In a panic and not knowing what to do, Mrs. Trivett phoned Summers County 911 to seek medical assistance and ambulance transport for baby Jasper. (See App., pp. 151-52.) Mrs. Trivett's phone call to Summers County 911 was answered by its dispatcher, Carmen Cales, at approximately 4:18 a.m. (See id.) After nearly a minute, Ms. Cales attempted to contact the Defendant below, Summers County EMS, Inc. ("Summers County EMS").1 (See id.) After the first attempt to reach Summers County EMS was unsuccessful, Ms. Cales attempted to call Summers County EMS a second time. (See id.) The second attempt to reach Summers County EMS was likewise unsuccessful. (See id.)

Based upon Ms. Cales inability to reach Summers County EMS, Mrs. Trivett asked Ms. Cales to provide her with instructions for the proper administration of cardiopulmonary resuscitation ("CPR") on baby Jasper. (See App., pp. 151-53.) Ms. Cales advised Mrs. Trivett that Summers County 911 did not give directions on how to perform CPR. (See id.) Mrs. Trivett then inquired as to whether she should transport baby Jasper to the hospital herself and Ms. Cales told Mrs. Trivett that she should. (See id.) Before Mrs. Trivett hung up, Ms. Cales assured Mrs. Trivett that she would continue to try and reach Summers County EMS. (See id.) Mrs. Trivett See id.) Mrs. Trivett to two minutes and twenty-one seconds. (See id.)

Relying on Ms. Cales's assurance that she would continue to try to reach Summers County EMS, Mrs. Trivett did not attempt to call Summers County EMS directly and did not try to contact anyone else to seek medical assistance for baby Jasper. (See

<sup>1</sup> Although Summers County EMS and its employee, Jacob Woodrum, have jointly moved the Circuit Court to dismiss Mrs. Trivett's claims against them, the Circuit Court had not decided their Motion to Dismiss at the time of the filing of this appeal. The Circuit Court has stayed all further proceedings until this Court has resolved the instant appeal.

App., pp. 152-53.) Instead, she left her home and drove with baby Jasper to the emergency room at Summers County Appalachian Regional Hospital emergency room ("SCARH"). (See id.) During her drive to SCARH, Mrs. Trivett looked for, and expected to see, an ambulance that could provide life-saving medical care to baby Jasper during the trip to SCARH. (See id.)

Unbeknownst to the Plaintiff, Ms. Cales reached Summers County EMS immediately after hanging up with Mrs. Trivett. (See App., pp. 150-53.) Inexplicably, during that call, Ms. Cales instructed Summers County EMS that there was no reason for an ambulance to be sent to baby Jasper's residence and refused to give Summers County EMS Mrs. Trivett's address, even though Summers County EMS asked for the address twice. (See id.) Based upon the instructions given by Ms. Cales to Summers County EMS, no ambulance was dispatched to provide care for baby Jasper. (See id.)

By the time Mrs. Trivett arrived at SCARH, baby Jasper had been deprived of oxygen for in excess of nine minutes. (See App., 150-53, 163.) Of those nine minutes, more than two minutes was spent on the phone with Summers County 911 during the failed attempts to reach Summers County EMS. (See id.) Although he was initially revived at SCARH and flown to Ruby Memorial Hospital for additional medical treatment, baby Jasper suffered fatal brain damage as a result of the deprivation of oxygen during his transport to SCARH. (See id.) Baby Jasper died on September 17, 2019, two days after Mrs. Trivett's initial telephone call to Summers County 911. (See id.)

After baby Jasper's death, Mrs. Trivett obtained a copy of the 911 audio traffic related to her call to Summers County EMS on September 15, 2019. (See App, pp. 63-73.) Mrs. Trivett did not obtain the 911 audio traffic recordings until October 12, 2019.

(See App, pp. 102) While listening to the telephone conversations between Ms. Cales and Summers County EMS, Mrs. Trivett learned, for the first time, that Ms. Cales had instructed Summers County EMS not to send an ambulance to Mrs. Trivett's home to assist baby Jasper. (See id.) Based upon this new information, and prior to filing the underlying action, Mrs. Trivett retained a medical expert to examine the events surrounding her telephone call to Summers County 911 on September 15, 2019. (See App., pp. 37-48.) According to Mrs. Trivett's expert, both Summers County 911 and Summers County EMS deviated from the accepted standard of care that each entity owed to baby Jasper in providing emergency medical care. (See id.) Mrs. Trivett's expert further opined that these deviations from the accepted standard of care were the proximate cause of baby Jasper's death or, in the alternative, that these deviations deprived baby Jasper of a chance of survival that was greater than twenty-five (25) percent. (See id.)

On September 10, 2021, Mrs. Trivett, through counsel, served a Notice of Claim upon Summers County 911 and Carmen Cales in accordance with the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act ("MPLA"). Mrs. Trivett included, with her Screening Certificate of Merit, the following documents:

- A Screening Certificate of Merit Affidavit signed by Mrs. Trivett's expert;
- A copy of the baby Jasper's medical records from SCARH;
- A copy of the baby Jasper's medical records from Ruby Memorial Hospital;
- The West Virginia State Medical Examiner's investigation and autopsy report for baby Jasper;
- The preliminary and final death certificates for baby Jasper;
- Audio copies of all 911 audio traffic related to Mrs. Trivett's call to Summers County 911 on September 15, 2019;
- An affidavit signed by Mrs. Trivett setting forth the relevant facts; and
- A draft copy of the Complaint that Mrs. Trivett intended to file if the underlying Defendants chose not to mediate the her claims.

(See App. 1-48.) After none of the underlying Defendants provided Mrs. Trivett notice that they intended to exercise their right to pre-suit mediation under the MPLA, Mrs. Trivett filed her underlying Complaint on October 12, 2021. (See id.)

In her Complaint, Mrs. Trivett asserted four causes of actions against the underlying Defendants. (See App., pp. 147-77.) In the first two counts of her Complaint, Mrs. Trivett asserted that Summers County 911 and Summers County EMS negligently caused baby Jasper's death in the manner in which they responded to Mrs. Trivett's 911 call on September 15, 2019. (See id.) Counts III and IV of the Complaint alleged that Summers County 911 and Summers County 911 and Summers County 911 and Summers County 911 and Summers County 64 to Mrs. Trivett's 911 call on September 15, 2019. (See id.) Counts III and IV of the Complaint alleged that Summers County 911 and Summers County EMS were vicariously liable for the negligent actions of Carmen Cales and Jacob Woodrum, respectively. (See id.)

Rather than answer Mrs. Trivett's Complaint, Summers County 911 and Ms. Cales moved the Circuit Court to dismiss the Complaint under Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure for failing to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. (See App., pp. 181-201.) In their Motion, the Respondents argued that the Complaint should be dismissed for three reasons. (See id.) First, the Respondents claimed that Mrs. Trivett's claims were barred by the public duty doctrine. (See id.) Second, the Respondents were immune from suit under the Tort Claims Act. Finally, the Respondents argued that Mrs. Trivett's claims were barred by the applicable statute of limitations. (See id.)

After receiving a responsive brief from Mrs. Trivett and hearing oral argument on the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, the Circuit Court entered its Order Granting Motion to Dismiss of Defendants Summers County Commission D/B/A Summers County Office of Emergency Management and Carmen Cales on February 17, 2022. (See App., pp.

309-318.) In its Order, the Circuit Court found that Mrs. Trivett's claims against the Respondents were governed by the Tort Claims Act and that those claims were filed outside of the applicable statute of limitations found within the Tort Claims Act. (See id.) Further, the Circuit Court found that the provisions of the MPLA did not apply to the Respondents because the Respondents were not "health care providers" or a "health care facility" within the meaning of the MPLA. (See id.) The Circuit Court reasoned that, because the MPLA did not apply to Mrs. Trivett's claims against the Respondents, the tolling provisions for the filing of claims contained within the MPLA did not apply to Mrs. Trivett's claims against the Respondents. (See id.) Finally, the Circuit Court determined that the statute of limitations for filing Mrs. Trivett's claims could not be tolled by operation of the discovery rule. It is from the Circuit Court's Order that Mrs. Trivett now appeals.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mrs. Trivett is now before this Court asking that it reverse the Circuit Court's Order Granting Motion to Dismiss of Defendants Summers County Commission D/B/A Summers County Office of Emergency Management and Carmen Cales and remand this matter to the Circuit Court for the conduct of discovery and a Circuit on the merits of Mrs. Trivett's claims against the Respondents. In support of her appeal, Mrs. Trivett asserts three assignments of error to justify the reversal of the Circuit Court's Order. First, Mrs. Trivett asserts that the Circuit Court committed clear legal error and abused its discretion when it determined that her underlying Complaint was filed outside of the applicable statute of limitations set forth in the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act. West Virginia Code § 29-12A-6(b) provides the appropriate period of limitation for the claims at issue in this case and explicitly provides that "[a]n action against a political subdivision to recover damages for ... death ..., to a minor,

brought ... on behalf of a minor who was under the age of ten years at the time of such injury, shall be commenced within two years after the cause of action arose or after the ... death ... was discovered or reasonably should have been discovered, whichever last occurs, or prior to the minor's twelfth birthday, whichever provides the longer period."

Under the plain language of this statutory provision, Mrs. Trivett has until the time that baby Jasper would have reached the age of twelve years to file his claims against the Respondents. Because she filed her Complaint long before that date, Mrs. Trivett's claims are timely and should not have been dismissed by the Circuit Court. To justify its dismissal of Mrs. Trivett's Complaint, the Circuit Court added its own requirement, one not found within the meaning of the statute, to the plain language of West Virginia Code §29-12A-6(b) to require that baby Jasper live to the age of twelve years in order to derive the benefit of the statutory language. This Court has repeatedly held that such statutory interpretation is impermissible where the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous.

Further, even if the Court were to conclude that Mrs. Trivett's claims against the Respondents were filed outside the applicable time periods contained in the Tort Claims Act, those claims are likewise governed by the MPLA and were timely filed under that statute. Mrs. Trivett's claims against the Respondents are subject to the requirements of the MPLA because those claims fall within the definitions of health care and/or health care provider as well as within the definition of medical professional responsibility under the MPLA. Mrs. Trivett's claims raise issues of fact under the MPLA that must be resolved by the Circuit Court only after an appropriate period of discovery has been conducted.

Finally, the Circuit Court committed clear legal error and abused its discretion when it held that the applicable statute of limitations governing Mrs. Trivett's claims

against the Respondents was not tolled by the discovery rule announced by this Court in <u>Dunn v. Rockwell</u>. Mrs. Trivett did not discover the existence of her claims against the Respondent until she obtained a copy of the 911 audio recording from Summers County 911 and determined that the Respondents had negligently responded to her call to 911 on September 15, 2019. Mrs. Trivett filed her Complaint within two years of this discovery, making her claim timely under any applicable period of limitations to be applied by the Circuit Court. For all of these reasons, the Circuit Court's Order Granting Motion to Dismiss of Defendants Summers County Commission D/B/A Summers County Office of Emergency Management and Carmen Cales must be reversed by this Court and this matter remanded to the Circuit Court for the conduct of discovery and a Circuit on the merits of the underlying claims.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

After consideration of Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Mrs. Trivett does not believe that any of the factors set forth within that Rule are present to render oral argument unnecessary in this case. Mrs. Trivett believes that oral argument should be conducted in this matter in accordance with Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure based upon the fact that this case (1) presents assignments of error in the application of settled law; (2) presents claims of an unsustainable exercise of discretion by the Circuit Court where the law governing that discretion is settled; and (3) involves a narrow issue of law.

#### ARGUMENT

### I. Standard of Review.

This matter is before the Court pursuant to Mrs. Trivett's appeal of the Circuit Court's Order Granting Motion to Dismiss of Defendants Summers County Commission

D/B/A Summers County Office of Emergency Management and Carmen Cales. The Circuit Court dismissed Mrs. Trivett's claims against Summers County 911 and Ms. Cales under Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. "Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is de novo." Syl. pt. 2, <u>State ex rel. McGraw v.</u> <u>Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.</u>, 194 W.Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995). In <u>Runyan</u>, Justice Cleckley expounded further on the manner in which this Court must consider appeals where the underlying case was dismissed pursuant to a motion to dismiss:

"Complaints are to be read liberally as required by the notice pleading theory underlying the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. The circuit court, viewing all the facts in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, may grant the motion only if 'it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his[, her, or its] claim which would entitle him[, her, or it] to relief.' Indeed, Rule 8 of the Rules of Civil Procedure requires clarity but not detail. Specifically, Rule 8(a)(2) requires 'a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief[.]' In addition, Rule 8(e)(1) states, in part, that '[e]ach averment of a pleading shall be simple, concise, and direct.' The primary purpose of these provisions is rooted in fair notice. Under Rule 8, a complaint must be intelligibly sufficient for a circuit court or an opposing party to understand whether a valid claim is alleged and, if so, what it is.

Although entitlement to relief must be shown, a plaintiff is not required to set out facts upon which the claim is based. Nevertheless, despite the allowance in Rule 8(a) that the plaintiff's statement of the claim be 'short and plain,' a plaintiff may not 'fumble around searching for a meritorious claim within the elastic boundaries of a barebones complaint[,]', or where the claim is not authorized by the laws of West Virginia. A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) enables a circuit court to weed out unfounded suits."

Id., 194 W.Va. at 776, 461 S.E.2d at 522 (citations omitted).

In the instant case, although the parties do not necessarily agree on the facts

underlying Mrs. Trivett's claims, any such factual disputes are irrelevant because the

Circuit Court, and this Court, are required to treat the Complaint's factual assertions as

true when considering the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss. <u>See John W. Lodge Co., Inc.</u> <u>v. Texaco, Inc.</u>, 161 W.Va. 603, 605, 245 S.E.2d 157, 159 (1978). Because this Court's inquiry is strictly a matter of the application of legal principles to those factual allegations, this Court's power of interpretive scrutiny over the Circuit Court's Order is plenary. <u>See</u> <u>Mildred L.M. v. John O.F.</u>, 192 W.Va. 345, 350, 452 S.E.2d 436, 441 (1994). Considering that this Court's review is de novo, "the findings of the [Circuit Court], although relevant, are not binding on this Court." <u>Runyan</u>, supra.

## II. The Circuit Court committed clear legal error and abused its discretion when it determined that the Petitioner's underlying Complaint was filed outside of the applicable statute of limitations set forth in the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act.

The Petitioner's underlying Complaint alleges, among other things, that her son, Jasper, suffered fatal injuries on September 15, 2019 as a result of the negligence of Summers County 911 and Carmen Cales. These claims are governed by the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act ("Tort Claims Act"). The Circuit court abused its discretion and committed clear legal error when it ruled that Petitioner's negligence claims against Summers County 911 and Carmen Cales were filed outside of the applicable statute of limitations set forth in the Tort Claims Act. Although it is undisputed in the record that Petitioner's decedent (baby Jasper) was a minor child under the age of ten years at the time of his loss, the Circuit court erroneously determined that Petitioner's claims under the Tort Claims Act had to be brought within two years of Jasper's death and that the tolling provision set forth in §29-12A-6(b) of the Tort Reform Act does not apply to Petitioner's claims.

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