# DO NOT REMOVE



#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

## BARBARA STINE TRIVETT, ADMINSTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE OF JASPER TRIVETT Plaintiff, Petitioner,

٧.



SUMMERS COUNTY COMMISSION d/b/a SUMMERS COUNTY OFFICE OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT and CARMEN CALES. Defendants, Respondents.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

Wendy E. Greve, WV State Bar No. 6599

wgreve@pffwv.com

Drannon L. Adkins, WV State Bar No. 11384

dadkins@pffwv.com

Pullin, Fowler, Flanagan, Brown & Poe, PLLC

JamesMark Building

901 Quarrier Street

Charleston, West Virginia 25301

Telephone: (304) 344-0100

Facsimile: (304) 342-1545

Counsel for the Respondents

##

#### I. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court correctly determined that the Petitioner's Complaint against the Respondents was time-barred. Petitioner's argument that the Complaint was timely filed under the West Virginia Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, West Virginia Code § 29-12A-1, et seq., relies upon the minority tolling provision, West Virginia Code § 29-12A-6(b), which has been invalidated because it violates the Equal Protection Clause of the West Virginia Constitution.

Moreover, while the Circuit Court also relied upon that same provision in determining that the Complaint was filed outside of the applicable statute of limitations, the Circuit Court's reasoning is still proper even when considered under the proper statutes. The proper statute of limitations is either <u>West Virginia Code</u> § 55-2-15 (general tolling statute) or <u>West Virginia Code</u> § 55-7-6 (Wrongful Death Act).

Under the Wrongful Death Act, the applicable limitations period begins to run from the date of the decedent's death, which was September 17, 2019. The Wrongful Death Act's statute of repose applies because of the nature of Petitioner's cause of action, which is that the Respondents allegedly committed a negligent act or omission that proximately resulted in Jasper's death. The cause of action was ripe upon Jasper's death on September 17, 2019, and thus, the limitations period expired on September 17, 2021. Petitioner's Complaint, which was filed on October 12, 2021, was untimely by nearly a month.

Even under the general tolling statute, any limitations period is tolled while a person is under a legal disability, but once that disability is removed, either through attaining the age of majority, obtaining mental competency, or death, such tolling ends

and that limitations period begins to run. Jasper tragically passed away on September 17, 2019, which removed the legal disability of being a minor. Thus, even under the more forgiving general tolling statute, the Complaint needed to have been filed within two years of the removal of Jasper's legal disability, which would have been September 17, 2021.

Thus, under either the Wrongful Death Act or the general tolling statute, the limitations period began to run on the same date—September 17, 2019—when Jasper passed away.

Additionally, the Circuit Court correctly rejected Petitioner's tolling argument when it determined that because Jasper passed away, he would not continue to age. In other words, Jasper would never purge himself of his legal disability. Moreover, any tolling provisions would only be triggered if Jasper had not passed away. Petitioner herself is not a minor for whom the tolling provisions would apply; rather, she is an adult and brought suit as the personal representative of Jasper's estate.

While the Court need not delve into Petitioner's argument concerning the Circuit Court's alleged misinterpretation of the Tort Claims Act's minority tolling provision, its interpretation of such provision was correct because the Circuit Court implicitly found that such a tolling provision is only available to living minors. Jasper, however, passed away and would never reach either his twelfth birthday (under the Tort Claims Act) or the age of majority (under the general tolling provision).

Nor did the Circuit Court err in applying the proper limitations period. Petitioner claims that the longest available limitations period must apply. Yet, the longest possible limitations period is two years, which began running from Jasper's death, under any of

the available statutes. Nor do the various statutes necessarily conflict. The only realistic conflict is between West Virginia Code § 29-12A-6(b) and West Virginia Code § 55-2-15. West Virginia Code § 29-12A-6(b) has previously been ruled unconstitutional, but even if it applies, it works in conjunction with the Wrongful Death Act, as does West Virginia Code § 55-2-15, because it is the Wrongful Death Act that authorizes a cause of action for the death of a person.

The Circuit Court also correctly determined that Petitioner could not rely upon the Medical Professional Liability Act ("MPLA"), its statute of limitations, or its tolling provisions for her claims against the Respondent. The Respondents are not entities covered by the MPLA; nor are they entities whose conduct is governed by the MPLA. The Respondents do not fall within the class of "Health Care Facilities" or "Health Care Providers" and do not provide "Health Care." If the Legislature had intended entities such as county 911 centers to be governed by the MPLA, it would have so provided; yet, it has not done so. That is likely because the function of a 911 center and its employees is to dispatch appropriate services if warranted by the situation, not the provision of medical services. No amount of discovery will change the fact that entities such as the Respondents are not "Health Care Providers."

Nor can Petitioner rely upon the fact that she has also named covered MPLA entities (who are not a party to this appeal) as a basis for applying either the MPLA or its statutory tolling provisions to the Respondents. The MPLA only applies to claims against entities engaged in the provision of health care and claims against such entities that are contemporaneous or related to such provision of health care. That extension, however, does not mean that claims against non-covered entities are also subject to the MPLA.

Moreover, while the statute of limitations is tolled as to entities covered by the MPLA, that tolling does not apply to non-covered entities such as the Respondents.

Finally, the Circuit Court properly rejected Petitioner's invocation of the discovery rule when it found that all elements of the cause of action were known to the Petitioner by the date of Jasper's death. The Circuit Court correctly found that Petitioner knew of the factual basis for her claim, which is premised upon negligent dispatching of EMS services, on September 15, 2019, when Petitioner made the 911 call and transported Jasper to the hospital. Petitioner knew on September 15, 2019 that she did not encounter EMS, either at her home or on the way to the hospital. That is, she knew that EMS was either not dispatched or was not dispatched timely. The Circuit Court's determination that Petitioner's review of the 911 recordings may have provided a potential legal theory of recovery, as opposed to a factual basis, was correct and should be affirmed.

Accordingly, the Circuit Court's ruling on the Respondent's motion to dismiss was correct and should be affirmed.

#### II. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Respondents assert that oral argument is unnecessary, pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, as the dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided and the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. However, if the Court believes oral argument is warranted, the Respondents submit that any such argument would be appropriate, pursuant to Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, as this case involves the application of settled law.

#### III. ARGUMENT

Plaintiff's claims against the Respondents were properly dismissed because they were filed outside of the applicable two-year statute of limitations.

Statutes of limitation are statutes of repose and the legislative purpose is to compel the exercise of a right of action within a reasonable time; such statutes represent a statement of public policy with regard to the privilege to litigate and are a valid and constitutional exercise of the legislative power.

Syl. Pt. 1, <u>Stevens v. Saunders</u>, 159 W.Va. 179, 220 S.E.2d 887 (1975). In West Virginia, courts employ a five-step test to determine whether a claim is time-barred:

First, the court should identify the applicable statute of limitation for each cause of action. Second, the court (or, if questions of material fact exist, the jury) should identify when the requisite elements of the cause of action occurred. Third, the discovery rule should be applied to determine when the statute of limitation began to run by determining when the plaintiff knew, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, of the elements of a possible cause of action.... Fourth, if the plaintiff is not entitled to the benefit of the discovery rule, then determine whether the defendant fraudulently concealed facts that prevented the plaintiff from discovering or pursuing the cause of action.... And fifth, the court or the jury should determine if the statute of limitation period was arrested by some other tolling doctrine[.]

Syl. Pt. 5, in part, <u>Dunn v. Rockwell</u>, 225 W.Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255 (2009).

A. The Wrongful Death Statute of Repose Dictates the Appropriate Limitations Period Under Either the General Tolling Statute or Tort Claims Act Minority Tolling Provision

Petitioner argues that the Circuit Court erred by not applying the minority tolling provision of the Tort Claims Act. <u>Pet. Br.</u> at p. 10-19. Petitioner asserts that <u>West Virginia Code</u> § 29-12A-6(b) applies to any claim brought by or on behalf of a minor child against a political subdivision for any injury, loss, or death sustained by a minor under the age of ten.

In making this argument, however, the Petitioner fails to mention three important issues: (1) that the minority tolling provision has been invalidated as violating the equal protection clause;<sup>1</sup> (2) that because this is an action for wrongful death, the wrongful death act's two-year statute of repose applies and was triggered upon Jasper's Death on September 17, 2019; and (3) that even if the general tolling statute applied, that tolling ended upon Jasper's Death.

#### The Minority Tolling Provision of Tort Claims Act has been held to be Unconstitutional

The first problem with Petitioner's argument concerning the minority tolling provision of the Tort Claims Act is that that provision has been judicially abrogated after it was found to violate the Equal Protection Clause of the West Virginia Constitution. In Whitlow v. Board of Education, 190 W.Va. 223, 438 S.E.2d 15 (1993), this Court determined that West Virginia Code § 29-12A-6(b) "violates the Equal Protection Clause ... to the extent that it denies to minors the benefit of the statute of limitations provided in the general tolling statute, W.Va. Code, [§] 55-2-15." Syl. Pt. 3, in part, Whitlow, 190 W.Va. 223, 438 S.E.2d 15. The Court noted that under West Virginia Code § 29-12A-6(b) "minors have been selected for disparate and more severe treatment than others who are within the same class under W.Va., [§] 55-2-15, i.e., the insane." Id. at 231, 438 S.E.2d at 23.

Thus, the net result of <u>Whitlow</u> is that with respect to claims brought by or on behalf of minors in general, it is the general tolling statute, <u>West Virginia Code</u> § 55-2-15,<sup>2</sup> not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> To be sure, Petitioner acknowledges that the minority tolling provision has been invalidated in another argument section. <u>Pet. Br.</u> at p. 20. However, Petitioner's argument there is that the Court should have used the longest possible statute of limitations to the estate's claims.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> West Virginia Code § 55-2-15(b) provides in pertinent part, "[i]f any person to whom the right accrues to bring any personal action ..., suit, or scire facias, or any bill to repeal a grant, shall be, at the time the same

the Tort Claims Act's minority tolling statute, which applies regardless of whether the defendant is a political subdivision.

At first blush, that statute may seem to allow a plaintiff to bring a claim on behalf of a minor child for up to two years after the minor reaches the age of majority. Sadly however, because Jasper passed away before reaching the age of majority and passed away from injuries that caused his death, the Wrongful Death Act's statute of repose, which applies from the date of his death on September 17, 2019, is applicable.

In its ruling, the Circuit Court determined that the minority tolling provision of the West Virginia Government Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act ("Tort Claims Act"), West Virginia Code § 29-12A-6(b), did not extend the statute of limitations on the wrongful death claim to Jasper's twelfth birthday. JA0314-JA0315.

While the Circuit Court limited its analysis solely to the Tort Claims Act's minority tolling provision, this Court should still affirm because the Circuit Court's analysis was correct under the Tort Claims Act or the general savings statute, as both work in conjunction with the wrongful death statute in determining the appropriate limitations period for claims involving death. The Circuit Court's ruling reflects that it is the date of a person's death that begins the limitations period when it found that Petitioner's wrongful death claim expired on September 17, 2021, which was two years from the date Jasper passed away. JA0314-JA0315.

This Court has long held that "[t]his Court may, on appeal, affirm the judgment of the lower court when it appears that such judgment is correct on any legal ground

accrues, an infant ..., the same may be brought within the like number of years after his or her becoming of full age ... that is allowed to a person having no such impediment to bring the same after the right accrues..."

disclosed by the record, regardless of the ground, reason or theory assigned by the lower court as the basis for its judgment." Syl. Pt. 2, Adkins v. Gatson, 218 W. Va. 332, 624 S.E.2d 769 (2005) (citation omitted); see also, Murphy v. Smallridge, 196 W. Va. 35, 36-37, 468 S.E.2d 167, 168-169 (1996) ("An appellate court is not limited to the legal grounds relied upon by the circuit court, but it may affirm or reverse a decision on any independently sufficient ground that has adequate support."); Longwell v. Hodge, 171 W.Va. 45, 47, 297 S.E.2d 820, 822 (1982) ("We agree with the Circuit Court, and affirm its decision, although for different reasons than those expressed by the lower court.").

While the Circuit Court's analysis was limited to the minority tolling provision of the Tort Claims Act, this Court should still affirm because the Circuit Court's analysis was correct under either the Tort Claims Act or the general savings statute.

#### 2. The Wrongful Death Statute of Repose Applies to all Claims Involving Death

The second problem with Petitioner's argument is that the minority tolling provision of the Tort Claims Act simply does not apply because the injury complained of is the death of Jasper, not personal injuries that did not result in death.

As noted by this Court, "[a]ctions [or injuries] resulting in death are covered by our wrongful death statute, West Virginia Code, [§] 55-7-5." Courtney v. Courtney, 190 W. Va. 126, 128 n.5, 437 S.E.2d 436, 438 n.5 (1993). If a plaintiff "die[s] of injuries received ... [the] action must proceed under the Wrongful Death provision. If his death ... was for reasons other than the injuries suffered ..., this action is permissible under [West Virginia Code §] 55-7-8a." Conrad v. Wertz, 278 F.Supp. 428, 432 (N.D.W.Va. 1968); see also, State ex rel. Morgantown Operating Co., LLC v. Gaujot, 245 W. Va. 415, 419-420, 859 S.E.2d 358, 362-363 (2021) (noting differences between (1) personal injury claims that

are (a) initiated by a plaintiff in his own right and prosecuted to completion, and (b) initiated by a plaintiff but revived upon the plaintiff's death under the Wrongful Death Act; and (2) a decedent's personal injury claims (a) that did not cause the decedent's death, which survive under the Wrongful Death Act, and (b) that result in the death of the decedent, which arise under West Virginia Code § 55-7-5.

Thus, "there is a patent distinction between personal injury claims and wrongful death claims." Gaujot, 245 W. Va. at 420, 859 S.E.2d at 363. "[I]n order to maintain an action for wrongful death there must be the death of a person and the death must be caused by such wrongful act, neglect or default as would, if death had not ensued, have entitled the party injured to maintain such action to recover damages for such wrongful death." Michael v. Consolidation Coal Co., 241 W. Va. 749, 756, 828 S.E.2d 811, 818 (2019) (citation omitted).

Here, Petitioner's wrongful death claim arises solely out of the incident asserted in the Complaint—the alleged failure to timely dispatch emergency services to either arrive at her residence or intercept her on the drive to the hospital. <u>JA0148-JA0177</u>. That is, Plaintiff alleges the fourth type of claim addressed in <u>Gaujot</u> – a claim that the negligent conduct directly caused or contributed to the death.

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